2001

YVONNE LORAINNE CARRILLO TAYLOR,
PATRICIA ANN CARRILLO DAVIS, and
ALEXANDER JAMES CARRILLO, v. LYDIA
INEZ CARRILLO EPLEY, JOHN REISSER, and
ADMIRAL HOMELOAN, a California
corporation dba ADMIRAL MORTGAGE
COMPANY; OCWEN FEDERAL BANK FSB, a
federal savings bank, : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

The Supreme Court had jurisdiction in this matter pursuant to Section 78-2-2(3)(j), Utah Code Annotated, 1953 as amended and Rule 3(a), Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure. This matter was then poured over to the Court of Appeals by the Supreme Court.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

I.

A. Whether the District Court erred in awarding summary judgment in favor of Ocwen Federal Bank and Admiral Home Loan and against plaintiffs; did any action taken by plaintiffs preclude them from pursuing their claims against Ocwen Federal Bank and Admiral Home Loan due to the doctrine of election of remedies; did any action taken by plaintiffs change the forged deed from void to valid; could any action taken by plaintiffs change the forged deed from void to valid.

As to each issue presented above, this is an appeal from the award of summary judgment and from subsequent refusals of the trial court to alter, amend or clarify the terms of the Order granting that summary judgment; upon review of a grant of a motion for summary judgment, the appellate court applies the same standard as that applied by the trial court. Durham v. Margetts, 571 P.2d 1332 (Ut. 1977); the appellate court views the facts in a light most favorable to the losing party below, and in determining whether those facts require, as a matter of law, the entry of judgment for the prevailing party

below; the appellate court gives no deference to the trial court's conclusions of law, which are reviewed for correctness. Blue Cross & Blue Shield v. State, 779 P.2d 634 (Ut. 1989).

B. What effect did the foreclosure of the trust deed by Ocwen Federal have upon the title to the real property and upon the interests of appellants in said real property; was the deed of conveyance of Clarence Carrillo, admittedly forged by Lydia Epley void; did Lydia Epley even have any interest in the real property that she could pledge and upon which Ocwen Federal Bank could foreclose; what was the extent of the interest, if any, that Lydia Epley had in the real property;

As to each issue presented above, this is an appeal from the award of summary judgment and from subsequent refusals of the trial court to alter, amend or clarify the terms of the Order granting that summary judgment; upon review of a grant of a motion for summary judgment, the appellate court applies the same standard as that applied by the trial court. Durham v. Margetts, 571 P.2d 1332 (Ut. 1977); the appellate court views the facts in a light most favorable to the losing party below, and in determining whether those facts require, as a matter of law, the entry of judgment for the prevailing party below; the appellate court gives no deference to the trial court's conclusions of law, which are reviewed for correctness. Blue Cross & Blue Shield v. State, 779 P.2d 634 (Ut. 1989).

C. Did the trial court err in forfeiting the interests of plaintiffs in the real property.

As to this issue, this is an appeal from the award of summary judgment and from subsequent refusals of the trial court to alter, amend or clarify the terms of the Order granting that summary judgment; upon review of a grant of a motion for summary judgment, the appellate court applies the same standard as that applied by the trial court. Durham v. Margetts, 571 P.2d 1332 (Ut. 1977); the appellate court views the facts in a light most favorable to the losing party below, and in determining whether those facts require, as a matter of law, the entry of judgment for the prevailing party below; the appellate court gives no deference to the trial court's conclusions of law, which are reviewed for correctness. Blue Cross & Blue Shield v. State, 779 P.2d 634 (Ut. 1989).

D. Was the execution sale conducted by the Utah County Sheriff invalid.

As to the issue presented above, this is an appeal from the award of summary judgment and from subsequent refusals of the trial court to alter, amend or clarify the terms of the Order granting that summary judgment; upon review of a grant of a motion for summary judgment, the appellate court applies the same standard as that applied by the trial court. Durham v. Margetts, 571 P.2d 1332 (Ut. 1977); the appellate court views the facts in a light most favorable to the losing party below, and in determining whether those facts require, as a matter of law, the entry of judgment for the prevailing party below; the appellate court gives no deference to the trial court's conclusions of law, which are reviewed for correctness. Blue Cross & Blue Shield v. State, 779 P.2d 634 (Ut. 1989).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In July of 1995, two sisters and a brother, Yvonne Loraine Carrillo Taylor, Patricia Ann Carrillo Davis and Alexander James Carrillo (appellants) brought suit in the Fourth Judicial District Court of Utah seeking declaratory relief regarding real property owned by their father, Clarence Carrillo, at his death, and particularly regarding the effect that a deed of trust placed against that real property by their sister Lydia Epley would have against their expectations of an interest in that real property. The brother and sisters sought declaratory relief finding said deed of trust null and void and having the same removed as a cloud on title. The plaintiffs contended that their sister Lydia Epley and Lydia's friend John Reisser had acted fraudulently in obtaining a loan secured by the trust deed that Lydia Epley had placed against the real property owned by their father at the time of his death and that John Reisser received the proceeds of that loan. Plaintiffs also named as a defendant in that suit Admiral Home Loan, believing at the time that it was the owner of said trust deed—Admiral Home Loan did not refute that assumption and filed an Answer claiming to be the owner; at a later date it was determined that Ocwen Federal Bank FSB, as assignee of Admiral Home Loan, was the true owner of the trust deed, and Ocwen Federal Bank was joined as a defendant. Because the defendants Lydia Epley and John Reisser failed to respond to written discovery propounded to them by plaintiffs—including Requests for Admissions—the Answers of Lydia Epley and John Reisser were stricken and judgment was entered against them on or about July 1, 1996 as

a sanction for their failure to respond to discovery requests and for failure to comply with an Order of the court compelling responses to those discovery requests. The claims of the plaintiffs against Lydia Epley sounded in fraud and was not based upon loss of the real property. At the time said judgment was entered, neither plaintiffs nor Lydia Epley had any interest in the real property..

On or about March 6, 1998, Patricia Ann Carrillo Davis (Mertin) filed in the Fourth Judicial District Court a Petition for Order Determining Heirs regarding her deceased father Clarence Carrillo; said petition was filed under case number 983400124ES; a Determination of Heirs was entered in said case on March 30, 1998; said determination held that because the spouse of Clarence Carrillo had predeceased him, the only heirs of Clarence Carrillo were his four children [the three plaintiffs/appellants herein and the defendant/appellee Lydia Epley] and further held that the estate of Clarence Carrillo, including his interest in the subject real property owned by him at the time of his death, passed by operation of law in equal shares to his issue by representation, which issue were Lydia Epley, Patricia Davis, Yvonne Taylor and Alexander Carrillo. Prior to that time said individuals did not have an interest in the real property except that of an expectancy as heirs, and except the interest, if any, that Lydia Epley attempted to convey to herself by means of her father's deed that she had forged after his death.

Defendant Ocwen Federal filed a Motion for Summary Judgment on or about March 18, 1997 seeking judgment against Lydia Epley, seeking judgment that the Deed of Trust executed by Lydia Epley was a valid and enforceable first lien against the real property, seeking judgment that neither plaintiffs nor the defendants other than Ocwen Federal had any right, title or interest in and to the real property, seeking to judicially foreclosure the trust deed and seeking to foreclose any and all interest of plaintiffs in and to the real property following foreclosure.

Plaintiffs filed their own Motion for Summary Judgment in opposition to that filed by Ocwen Federal seeking an Order denying the attempts of Ocwen Federal to foreclose the trust deed, seeking declaratory relief that the actions of Lydia Epley in attempting to encumber the real property were null and void, seeking declaratory relief that the signature of Clarence Carrillo on the Quit-Claim Deed purportedly conveying his interest in real property to himself as trustee and to the successor trustees of his trust had been forged by Lydia Epley and that the deed was null and void, for declaratory relief that Lydia Epley was an interloper on title and had no property interest to pledge by way of a deed of trust to Admiral Home Loan or Ocwen Federal and declaring the deed of trust that she had given to Admiral Home Loan, which was subsequently assigned to Ocwen Federal, to be of no force and effect as a lien, trust deed, security agreement or encumbrance against the real property, and further removing the same as a cloud on title,

and seeking an Order that Admiral Home Loan and Ocwen Federal did not have the status of a *bona fide purchaser*.

Following the deposition of Lydia Epley in which she admitted to having forged the signature of her deceased father to a deed purportedly conveying his interest in the real property he owned to himself as trustee of a trust and to the successor trustees of said trust, defendant Admiral Home Loan filed amended pleadings, and on or about May 8, 1998, filed another Motion for Summary Judgment; Ocwen Federal apparently joined in said additional Motion for Summary Judgment as Ralph Marsh, the attorney for Admiral Home Loan, contended to also represent Ocwen Federal Bank, who was represented by Daniel Anderson. In this subsequent Motion for Summary Judgment, Admiral Home Loan advanced the claim that by taking a judgment against Lydia Epley, the plaintiffs had elected their remedies preventing them from seeking to have the trust deed removed from title.

Following oral argument held August 27, 1998 regarding said Motions for Summary Judgment, the Fourth District Court granted Summary Judgment in favor of Admiral Home Loan and Ocwen Federal and against the plaintiffs. Said Order granting summary judgment was dated December 15, 1998. In said Order, Judge Donald J. Eyre, Fourth District Court Judge issued a judgment, decree of foreclosure and order of sale, directing the sale of the real property.

On December 24, 1998, plaintiffs filed three motions; those motions sought the following: i. an Order clarifying the Order of December 15, 1998, or rather an Order determining the percentage of interest in the real property that the foreclosure of Ocwen Federal Bank affects; ii. an Order altering or amending the Order of December 15, 1998; iii. an Order certifying the Order of December 15, 1998 for immediate appeal if the foregoing Motions were not granted, and an Order staying execution of the Order and staying foreclosure by Ocwen Federal pending appeal.

These Motions were not ruled on by the Court prior to the time set for the foreclosure sale, which took place on February 10, 1999.

Plaintiffs subsequently filed a Motion on August 10, 1999 seeking an Order to Set Aside the Execution Sale which occurred on February 10, 1999, under claims that the Utah County Sheriff, in preparing for and in conducting the Execution Sale, did not properly follow the requirements established by Rule 69, Utah Rules of Civil Procedure governing executions, and under the claims that the Order improperly included within it language foreclosing “All right, title, claim and interests of the above named plaintiffs...[appellants herein]” as well as the right, title, claim and interests of Lydia Epley—the only person to have signed the trust deed which Ocwen Federal Bank was foreclosing. The motion alternatively sought to extend the redemption period regarding the foreclosure sale.

The foregoing four Motions were denied by the Fourth District Court following oral argument by means of a Minute Entry dated December 13, 2000; this ruling was reduced to an Order dated January 16, 2001 and plaintiffs Yvonne Lorraine Carrillo Taylor, Patricia Ann Carrillo Davis and Alexander James Carrillo filed their Notice of Appeal on February 15, 2001. No cross-appeals were filed by any other parties.

RELEVANT FACTS

1. Clarence G. Carrillo died in Provo, Utah on the 23rd day of May, 1994.

Plaintiffs Patricia Mertin (formerly Davis), Yvonne Lorainne Carrillo Taylor and Alexander James Carrillo, along with defendant Lydia Inez Carrillo Epley, are the only children of Clarence G. Carrillo. Clarence G. Carrillo had no wife at the time of his death. Plaintiffs Patricia Mertin (formerly Davis), Yvonne Lorainne Carrillo Taylor and Alexander James Carrillo, along with defendant Lydia Inez Carrillo Epley, are the only heirs of Clarence G. Carrillo. [Affidavit of Patricia Carrillo Mertin (hereinafter "Mertin Affidavit") ¶ 2; Trial Court Clerk Index #496];

2. At the time of his death, Clarence G. Carrillo owned real property consisting of a private residence and land located at 42 South 700 West, Provo, Utah County, State of Utah, more particularly described as follows:

Commencing 150.14 feet South of the Northeast corner of Block 59, Plat "A", Provo City Survey of Building Lots; thence West 6 rods; thence South 3 rods, more or less to the South line of Lot 7, Block 59; thence East along said South line 6 rods to Southeast corner of said Lot 7; thence North 3 rods, more or less to beginning.

[Mertin Affidavit ¶ 3, Trial Court Clerk Index #496];

3. On or about August 17, 1993, Clarence G. Carrillo may have executed a Trust Agreement similar or identical to the document attached to plaintiffs' complaint marked

as Exhibit "A" as an estate planning tool. The intent of Clarence G. Carrillo in executing said document as expressed therein was to effectively transfer all the asset of his estate into his name as Trustee of the trust, so that at his passing his children and heirs, Yvonne Lorainne Carrillo Taylor, Patricia Ann Carrillo Mertin, Alexander James Carrillo and Lydia Inez Carrillo Epley could act jointly as successor trustees of the trust, as set forth in Article II of said Exhibit "A", in handling the affairs of the trust estate and in distributing the assets of the trust to the intended recipients. It was the intention of Clarence G. Carrillo, as expressed in Article VI of said Exhibit "A", that the trust estate "...shall be divided into equal shares and distributed to the children of Clarence G. Carrillo who are named as follows:

Lydia Inez Carrillo Epley--Daughter

Patricia Ann Carrillo Davis--Daughter

Alexander James Carrillo--Son

Yvonne Lorainne Carrillo Taylor--Daughter

On many occasions before his death, Clarence G. Carrillo stated to all of his children that he wanted them to share equally in all the assets of his estate, including the real property.

[Mertin Affidavit ¶ 4, Trial Court Clerk Index #496];

4. Although Clarence G. Carrillo had the Trust Agreement that is Exhibit "A" to plaintiffs' complaint prepared, Clarence G. Carrillo never in fact signed any Trust Agreement. Clarence G. Carrillo died intestate, without a validly executed Trust

Agreement, and without a will. Further, his estate has never been probated. [Mertin Affidavit ¶ 5, Trial Court Clerk Index #496];

5. Admiral Home Loan has made the following statement in its “Responses to Plaintiff’s First Set of Interrogatories, Requests for Admissions and Requests for Production of Documents to Defendant Admiral Home Loan” dated March 20, 1995:

INTERROGATORY NO. 22 [propounded by plaintiffs]: State all facts and identify all documents upon which you base the allegations of the Fourth Defense of your Answer.

RESPONSE: The trust agreement attached to plaintiffs’ complaint has not been executed.

REQUEST FOR PRODUCTION OF DOCUMENTS [propounded by plaintiffs]: Produce all documents identified or requested to be identified in the foregoing Requests for Admissions and Interrogatories, included but not limited to the signed and notarized original of the Trust Agreement of Clarence G. Carrillo...

RESPONSE: No documents have been identified by this defendant other than the unsigned trust agreement attached to plaintiffs’ complaint of which plaintiffs already have a copy. This defendant has no signed and notarized copy of that trust agreement.

Said responses have never been updated.

6. A Quit Claim Deed has been recorded with the Utah County Recorder, bearing Entry Number 45214, Book 3455, Page 864, purporting to be a deed wherein Clarence G. Carrillo, individually, conveyed to himself and to the successor trustees of The Clarence G. Carrillo Trust, the real property described above. The signature of Clarence G. Carrillo that appears on said Quit Claim Deed is a forgery, placed there by Lydia Inez Carrillo Epley, who then got Leasa Day, who is her friend, to notarize said forged signature. Based upon their familiarity with their father's signature, the plaintiffs believe that the signature that appears on said Quit Claim Deed is a forgery. [Mertin Affidavit ¶ 6, Exhibit "B" thereto, Trial Court Clerk Index #496];

7. There is no recorded deed on the chain of title to the real property described above conveying said real property to Lydia Epley, other than a deed or deeds wherein Lydia Epley, as an interloper on the chain of title, conveyed said real property to herself. The chain of title to the above described real property is as follows:

a. Quit Claim Deed [forged] from Clarence G. Carrillo to Clarence C. Carrillo, Trustee, and to the successor trustees of THE CLARENCE G. CARRILLO TRUST;

b. Quit-Claim Deed dated May 11, 1995 from "Lydia Inez Carrillo Epley, Successor Trustee of the Clarence G. Carrillo Trust..." grantor, to "LYDIA INEZ CARRILLO EPLEY", grantee;

c. Quit-Claim Deed dated June 2, 1995 from “LYDIA INEZ CARRILLO EPLEY” grantor, to “LYDIA I. EPLEY, an unmarried woman”, grantee;

d. Deed of Trust dated JUNE 1, 1995, from “LYDIA I. EPLEY, AN UNMARRIED WOMAN” as trustor to “RALPH J. MARSH, ATTORNEY AT LAW” as trustee, with ADMIRAL HOME LOAN DBA ADMIRAL MORTGAGE COMPANY, A CALIFORNIA CORPORATION” as beneficiary;

e. Lis Pendens dated September 19, 1995, concerning this action, recorded with the Utah County Recorder on September 26, 1995 and bearing entry number 64095, book 3775, page 701;

f. Corporation Assignment of Deed of Trust recorded November 9, 1995. There are no other documents on the chain of title to the above described property that relate to this matter. [Mertin Affidavit ¶ 7 and Exhibits attached thereto, Trial Court Clerk Index #496]; [Affidavit of Donald K. Hyland submitted by Ocwen Federal Bank ¶ 4, Trial Court Clerk Index #442];

8. The signature and notary seal of one Leasa Day purportedly appears on the Quit Claim Deed contended by plaintiffs to be forged. In correspondence from said Leasa Day, she makes the following statements:

...Lydia Epley was a co-worker with whom I was placed in a supervisory position. Lydia did present many documents for me to sign over the years which were work related. After obtaining a copy of the Quit Claim Deed, it

does appear that the signature may be mine, but I did not knowingly sign nor notarize this document. Lydia's father [Clarence G. Carrillo] never appeared before me for any reason.

My suspicion is that my signature may have been copied and applied to the notary line on this document. Lydia had access to my seal and my signature stamp as they were kept in my desk.

I feel that I am as much a victim as your clients. Lydia somehow either copied or caused this forgery to be placed upon the Quit Claim Deed unbeknownst to me.

[Mertin Affidavit ¶ 8 and Exhibit attached thereto, Trial Court Clerk Index #496];

9. Plaintiffs retained the services of George J. Throckmorton, a Forensic Document Examiner of the Independent Forensic Laboratories, in order to prove that the signature that appears on the Quit Claim Deed that is Exhibit "B" to the Mertin Affidavit is a forgery. [Mertin Affidavit ¶ 9, Trial Court Clerk Index #496];

10. Defendant Lydia Inez Carrillo Epley has kept the proceeds from the loan that she obtained from Admiral Home Loan, and has not shared any of those proceeds with the plaintiffs herein. [Mertin Affidavit ¶ 12, Trial Court Clerk Index #496].

11. Plaintiffs expert witness George J. Throckmorton took the...documents [containing the signatures of Clarence Carrillo] and performed an examination to determine what identifiable characteristics were present in the Quit-Claim Deed [Quit-

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