2001

Yvonne Lorraine Carrillo Taylor, Patricia Ann Carrillo Davis, and Alexander James Carrillo v. Lydia Inez Carrillo Epley, John Reisser, Admiral Home Loan, Admiral Mortgage Company, Ocwen Federal Bank FSB : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

A.2d 972, 975 (Me. 2000). In *Royal Resources, Inc. v. Gibraltar Financial Corp.*, the Utah Supreme Court tacitly recognized this principle when it stated: “It is noteworthy that, except for the stipulation², had plaintiff chosen to take judgment against Gibraltar, such may well have been viewed as an election of remedies, and if properly raised as a defense, it would have obviated the necessity of trial and this appeal.” 603 P.2d 793, 796 (Utah 1979).

Sloss-Sheffield Steel & Iron Co. v. Wilkes, 165 So. 764 (Ala. 1936), the case cited by Appellants to support their claim that they are not barred from seeking recovery of the Property until they have satisfied their money judgment, is inapposite.³ *Sloss-Sheffield* discusses the methods by which a mortgagee may protect its interest in mortgaged property that has been damaged by a third party. *Id.* at 767. As Appellants point out, the case holds that a mortgagee may maintain an action against the third party for damages, for a personal judgment against the debtor, or for foreclosure. *Id.* All of these remedies, however, are based upon the same, consistent set of facts. There is no dispute as to who has title to or a security interest in the property in *Sloss-Sheffield*. By contrast, in the instant matter Appellants cannot recover money damages without assuming that title to the Property is in Epley, a set of facts that is entirely inconsistent with Appellants’ current action to recover

² The parties in *Royal Resources* had entered into a stipulation whereby the plaintiff was permitted to take judgment against Gibraltar, and in the event of no recovery, to then proceed against two other defendants individually.

³ In addition, *Sloss-Sheffield* has been overruled by *Henderson v. Wade Sand & Gravel Co.*, 388 So. 2d 900 (Ala. 1980).

the Property, which assumes an entirely different set of facts centered on the notion that title is in Appellants.

Likewise, *Brigham City Sand & Gravel v. Machinery Center, Inc.*, 613 P.2d 510 (Utah 1980), does not support Appellants' position. In *Brigham City*, the plaintiffs claimed that their property, worth \$12,000, had been converted and sold by several defendants, the Jensens, to the defendant Machinery Center for \$8,500. *Id.* at 511. The plaintiffs sought both damages against the Jensens for the value of the converted property and return of the property from Machinery Center. *Id.* The plaintiffs settled their damage claim against the Jensens for \$2,500. *Id.* Afterward, Machinery Center moved to dismiss the claim for recovery of the property on the ground that the plaintiffs "had elected their remedy of accepting \$2,500 damages for the conversion of their property and, having thus been paid for it, they were precluded from also seeking its return." *Id.*

Contrary to Appellants' assertion that the plaintiffs' settlement payment of \$2,500 constituted full satisfaction of its claim that resulted in the dismissal of the alternative claims against Machinery Center for recovery of the property, the plaintiffs settled their claims for damages for only \$2,500 (20% of their total claim) and they reserved in that settlement their rights to recover the converted property from Machinery Center. The Utah Supreme Court held that the plaintiffs could not "recover *for* the value of [their] property (as plaintiffs did from the Jensens here) through whom defendant Machinery Center derived its title, and then recover the property from the latter." *Id.* at 512 (emphasis added). In other words, the plaintiffs did not recover the value of the property (\$12,000). They recovered only \$2,500 "*for*" the value of the property. Moreover, the reservation of rights did not prevent the

application of the doctrine of election of remedies. Having elected to accept \$2,500 for the value of the property, the plaintiffs were barred from recovering the property itself from the innocent purchaser of that property.

Thus, even *Brigham City Sand & Gravel* demonstrates that it is not the satisfaction of Appellants' damage claim that bars the alternative claim for recovery of the property. Rather, it is the election of the damage remedy (whether by settlement or by taking a judgment) that bars the alternative claim for recovery of the property. Satisfaction did not occur in *Brigham City Sand & Gravel* and it need not occur here in order for the doctrine of election of remedies to bar Appellants' claim for the recovery of the Property. The fact that a plaintiff is able to collect only a fraction of his judgment is not relevant in determining whether an election of remedies has been made. *See Royal Resources*, 603 P.2d at 796 (recognizing that had plaintiff elected to take judgment against corporation instead of individuals it probably would have been barred by doctrine of election of remedies from pursuing them despite fact that judgment against corporation "was of little or no value").

C. Appellants' Recovery of the Property would Constitute Double Recovery.

Appellants should not be allowed to recover the Property because the judgment and the Property represent compensation for the same loss suffered by Appellants. It is well settled under Utah law that one of the primary purposes of the doctrine of election of remedies is "'to prevent double redress for a single wrong.'" *Palmer v. Hayes*, 892 P.2d 1059, 1062 (Utah Ct. App. 1995) (quoting *Angelos v. First Interstate Bank*, 671 P.2d 772, 778 (Utah 1983)).

In *Brigham City Sand & Gravel*, the Utah Supreme Court explained that “the trial court correctly took the view that the matter of terminology should be disregarded and the transaction looked at for what it actually was: that what the plaintiffs were suing the Jensens for was conversion of their property; and that the settlement agreement stated” that the parties’ claims had been fully adjusted and compromised on the merits. 613 P.2d at 512. Noting that the doctrine of election of remedies is based upon principles of equity and justice, the court held that “[i]t would be plainly contrary to those principles to allow a party to recover for the value of his property (as plaintiffs did from the Jensens here) through whom defendant Machinery Center derived its title, and then recover the property from the latter.” *Id.* Thus, having elected to accept the \$2,500 from the Jensens, the plaintiffs were precluded from pursuing the property in the hands of the defendant Machinery Center. *Id.*

Similarly, Appellants admit that they have obtained a judgment against Epley “based upon her *fraud*.” (Appellants Br. at 5) (emphasis added.) They further admit that “regardless of whether plaintiffs obtain the relief they seek against Admiral and Ocwen regarding the cloud on the title to the Property, *the amount of the judgment plaintiffs have obtained against Lydia Epley will not be abated.*” (Appellants Br. at 6) (emphasis added.) That judgment includes \$55,000 for the amount of the Trust Deed against the Property to Admiral and Ocwen. If the Trust Deed is removed, the Property would no longer be subject to that \$55,000 lien and the \$55,000 included in the judgment, which would not be abated, would represent a recovery of the same \$55,000 twice. That is double recovery and constitutes inconsistent remedies. No statement by Appellants to the contrary can change those facts.

Moreover, Appellants, in collecting on their judgment, recovered approximately \$35,000 from Epley, their judgment debtor, prior to the judgment from which this appeal was taken. This included having obtained a conveyance of Epley's full 25% interest in the Property quit-claimed to Appellants at a hearing on an Order in Supplemental Proceedings under Rule 69(k) and (l) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure. That 25% interest is worth at least \$25,000. Appellants have been collecting on the judgment since its entry (garnishment papers constituting approximately one-half of the district court file) and their efforts may well result in full recovery. Thus, a nullification of the Trust Deed, giving Appellants full unencumbered ownership of the Property as well as damages, would clearly represent a double recovery, which necessitates the application of the doctrine of election of remedies.

III. THE ISSUES RAISED BY APPELLANTS ARE MOOT AND BARRED BY THE DOCTRINE OF LACHES.

The sheriff's sale held nearly three years ago and the expiration of the redemption period has rendered any issue with respect to the judgment entered by the trial court moot and barred by the doctrine of laches. The Property has been sold to a bona fide third party and cannot now be regained in order to provide the relief requested by Appellants in this appeal.

In *Franklin Financial v. New Empire Development Co.*, a situation similar to the case at hand, a seller of an apartment complex sought to foreclose on a contract of sale. 659 P.2d 1040, 1042 (Utah 1983). The trial court granted the seller summary judgment and ordered a decree of foreclosure and sale of the property. *Id.* The buyers filed notices of appeal but failed to file a supersedeas bond or obtain a stay of the judgment and, as a

result, the foreclosure sale took place as scheduled. *Id.* at 1043. On appeal, the sellers argued the appeal should be dismissed as moot because the foreclosure sale had already been carried out and the redemption period had expired. *Id.*

In ruling on the matter, the Utah Supreme Court held “[a]n appeal is moot if during the pendency of the appeal circumstances change so that the controversy is eliminated, thereby rendering the relief requested impossible or of no legal effect.” *Id.* The court further held “if appellants were seeking on this appeal to prevent the foreclosure sale, and because of their failure to obtain a stay of execution, the sale were legally carried out during the pendency of the appeal and the time for redemption had run, the appeal would be moot.” *Id.*; *see also Osguthorpe v. Osguthorpe*, 872 P.2d 1057, 1058 (Utah Ct. App. 1994) (“A case is moot when the requested relief cannot affect the rights of the litigants.”); *Black v. Alpha Fin. Corp.*, 656 P.2d 409, 411 (Utah 1982) (same) (citations omitted).

Furthermore, in *Papanikolas Bros. Enters. v. Sugarhouse Shopping Ctr. Assocs.*, the Utah Supreme Court held a claim on appeal may be barred by the doctrine of laches if there is a lack of diligence on the part of the plaintiff which results in injury to the defendant. *See* 535 P.2d 1256, 1260 (Utah 1975). In applying the doctrine of laches to foreclosure sales, parties having an interest in the subject property “must redeem or assert any other available remedies within a reasonable time after the sale i.e., before the defense of laches becomes available to the purchaser.” David A. Thomas & James H. Backman, *Thomas and Backman on Utah Real Property Law* §14.03(c)(2)(iii)(A) (1999). *See also* 55 Am. Jur. 2d *Mortgages* § 911 (1996) (“[T]he right to redeem may be lost by

laches unless asserted within a reasonable time, and before the situation of the parties has changed, and the rights of others have intervened . . .”).

In the case at hand, the trial court granted summary judgment in Admiral and Ocwen’s favor on December 15, 1998, ruling the Trust Deed executed by Epley was a valid and enforceable first lien against the Property and ordering a decree of foreclosure and order of sale of the Property. Under Rule 4(a) of the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure, Appellants had thirty days to appeal the trial court’s final order of summary judgment, but chose not to. Utah R. App. P. 4(a) (“[T]he notice of appeal required by Rule 3 shall be filed with the clerk of the trial court within 30 days after the date of entry of the judgment or order appealed from.”).

Instead, on December 24, 1998, apparently in an effort to stop the sheriff’s sale, Appellants filed three motions with the trial court. Particularly, Appellants asked the trial court (1) to clarify its December 15, 1998 Order, (2) to alter, or amend the order, or (3) to certify the order for immediate appeal. Appellants made no attempt to protect the Property by posting a supersedeas bond or obtaining a stay of enforcement of the order, which is allowed pursuant to Rule 62(b) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure and Rule 8(a) of the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure. *See* Utah R. Civ. P. 62(b) (“[T]he court may stay the execution of, or any proceedings to enforce, a judgment pending the disposition of a motion for a new trial or to alter or amend a judgment made pursuant to Rule 59, or of a motion for relief from a judgment or order made pursuant to Rule 60”); Utah R. App. P. 8(a) (“A motion for [a stay of the judgment or for approval of a supersedeas bond] may be made to the appellate court.”).

After filing the motions and having the ability and wherewithal to notice up the motions, Appellants failed and refused to submit the motions to the trial court for ruling. As a result, the trial court could not hear and rule on the motions before the sheriff's sale, which took place as originally scheduled on February 10, 1999. At the sheriff's sale Ocwen purchased the Property and later resold it to a bona fide third party, who is entitled to retain the Property. *See* Utah R. Civ. P. 69(j)(6) ("If no redemption is made within six months after the sale, the purchaser or the purchaser's assignee is entitled to a conveyance.").

During the six-month statutory redemption period Appellants had ample opportunity to redeem the Property, as is allowed by Rule 69(j) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, but elected not to. *See* Utah R. Civ. P. 69(j). Instead, on August 10, 1999, the last day of the redemption period, Appellants filed a fourth motion, this time seeking to set aside the sheriff's sale or alternatively to enlarge the redemption period. Appellants, however, made no attempt to expedite the noticing up of this motion, or the three motions previously filed, so the trial court could properly rule and decide the issues before the expiration of the redemption period.

Finally, ten months after the sheriff's sale and nearly a year after the December 15, 1998 decree of foreclosure and order of sale had been issued, Appellants noticed up their four outstanding motions. Shortly thereafter, Appellants withdrew the request. As a result, Ocwen then requested Appellants motions be submitted to the trial court for ruling. Although it was Ocwen's position that all of the motions had been rendered moot by the sheriff's sale and the expiration of the statutory redemption period, Ocwen

requested the hearing to bring finality to the case. Surprisingly, Appellants then objected to the noticing up of *their own motions* and a hearing was never set.

Nearly a year later and twenty months after the sheriff's sale, Ocwen attempted for a *second* time to notice up Appellants' motions and a hearing was finally held on December 13, 2000. During that hearing the trial court judge commented at length on the mootness of Appellants' motions.⁴ Shortly after the hearing the trial court issued its Ruling, in which the trial court denied all of Appellants' motions holding that such were invalid, ineffective, and moot.⁵

On this appeal, Appellants seek to have the Trust Deed invalidated and the Property returned to them. However, by not posting a supersedeas bond and obtaining a stay of the foreclosure order, by allowing the foreclosure sale to take place as scheduled,

⁴ Specifically, the trial court judge noted as follows:

THE JUDGE: Counsel, . . . I will tell you not to hold your, not to exercise too much hope, Mr. Brown, because it strikes me that if the sale has taken place and the redemption period run, and the property has now been transferred to a third party, at some point there's got to be finality . . . But don't hold your breath. All right?

(R. at 1445, p. 18-19.)

⁵ In its Ruling, the trial court specifically stated as follows:

Plaintiffs' appeal period has expired and its efforts to seek some relief from a foreclosure sale also is moot. The sale was held nearly two years ago and the redemption period expired way over a year ago. Plaintiffs' claims are moot.

(R. at 1357.)

by making no attempt to redeem the Property before expiration of the redemption period, by purposefully refusing and failing to notice up their motions for ruling for nearly two years and by allowing the Property to be sold to a bona fide third party, Appellants have failed to diligently take all steps necessary to preserve the return of the Property as a possible remedy on appeal. Even if the return of the Property were a possible remedy, doing so would work a manifest injustice to the bona fide third party who purchased the Property after the sheriff's sale held nearly three years ago. Accordingly, this Court cannot provide the relief requested by Appellants and must deny their claims as moot and barred by the doctrine of laches.

For convenience of the Court, Appellees submit the following table which sets forth in short form the dates and events that clearly demonstrate the mootness of Appellants' appeal:

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